
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

EL PASO DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA 
 
v. 
 
(2) PAOLA CONNELLY 
 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
  

 
 
     CAUSE NO. EP-22-CR-229(2)-KC 
 
 

ORDER 
 

 On this day, the Court considered Defendant 3DROD�&RQQHOO\¶V Motion for 

Reconsideration, ECF No. 86.  For the reasons set forth below, the Motion for Reconsideration is 

GRANTED.  

I. BACKGROUND 

 A. Factual background 

 2Q�'HFHPEHU�����������WKH�(O�3DVR�3ROLFH�'HSDUWPHQW��³(33'´��UHVSRQGHG�WR�DQ�

HPHUJHQF\�FDOO�SODFHG�E\�&RQQHOO\¶V�QHLJKERU�1  Compl. ¶¶ 5±7, ECF No. 3.  When the police 

DUULYHG��WKH\�KHDUG�VHYHUDO�VKRWV�DQG�REVHUYHG�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�VWDQGLQJ�DW�KLV�QHLJKERU¶V�

door with a shotgun.  Id. ¶ ����(33'�RIILFHUV�WKHQ�DUUHVWHG�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�DQG�FRQGXFWHG�D�

SURWHFWLYH�VZHHS�RI�&RQQHOO\¶V�KRXVH��GXULQJ�ZKLFK�WKH�RIILFHUV�VDZ�VHYHUDO�ILUHDUPV��³REVHUYHG�

what appeared to be a homemade marihuanD�JUHHQKRXVH�´�DQG�³GHWHFWHG�WKH�VWURQJ�>RGRU@�RI�

PDULKXDQD�´��Id. ¶¶ 8±9.  A subsequent search by officers from EPPD and the Bureau of Alcohol, 

7REDFFR��)LUHDUPV��DQG�([SORVLYHV��³$7)´� allegedly uncovered 1.2 grams of marijuana, 0.21 

grams of marijuana e[WUDFW��������JUDPV�RI�³7+&�HGLEOH�´�������JUDPV�RI�VXVSHFWHG�SVLORF\ELQ��

DQG�³QXPHUous items of drug paraphernalia.´  Id. ¶ 12.  ATF officers also located multiple 

firearms and ammunition GXULQJ�WKHLU�VHDUFK�RI�&RQQHOO\¶V�KRXVH.  Resp. 2SS¶Q�'HI�¶V�0RW��

 
1 The Court recites the facts alleged by the Government for context only.  It makes no finding as to their 
veracity. 
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DLVPLVV��³5HVS�´�����(&)�1R� 71.  Several of these firearms were registered to Connelly.  Id.; 

see also Superseding Indictment 3±4, ECF No. 44 (listing weapons and ammunition possessed).  

 Shortly after the incident involving her husband, Connelly informed the officers on the 

VFHQH�WKDW�KHU�KXVEDQG�KDG�EHHQ�³VPRNLQJ�FUDFN´�UHFHQWO\��DQG�WKDW�KH�KDG�XVHG�FRFDLQH�ZLWK�KLV�

neighbor the night before.  Compl. ¶ 10.  Connelly later confirmed this account in a recorded 

interview with EPPD officers.  Id. ¶ 11; Resp. 4.  When asked about her drug use, Connelly told 

investigators that she XVHV�PDULMXDQD�RQ�D�UHJXODU�EDVLV�³WR�VOHHS�DW�QLJKW�DQG�WR�KHOS�KHU�ZLWK�

DQ[LHW\�´��5HVS� 4.  

 Based on these facts, Connelly was indicted with one count of possession of a firearm by 

an unlawful user of a controlled substance, in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(3).  Superseding 

Indictment 1±2.  Connelly was also indicted with one count of transferring a firearm and 

ammunition to her husband, an unlawful user of a controlled substance, in violation of 18 U.S.C. 

§ 922(d)(3).  Id. at 2±3. 

 B. Procedural history 

 Connelly moved to dismiss her indictment, arguing that § 922(g)(3) and (d)(3) violated 

WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�DQG�WKH�'XH�3URFHVV�&ODXVH�RI�WKH�)LIWK�$PHQGPHQW���'HI�¶V�$P��0RW��

'LVPLVV�,QGLFWPHQW��³0RW��'LVPLVV´�����(&)�1R� 65.  On December 21, 2022, the Court denied 

&RQQHOO\¶V�0RWLRQ�WR�'LVPLVV because )LIWK�&LUFXLW�SUHFHGHQW�SUHFOXGHG�ERWK�RI�&RQQHOO\¶V�

arguments.  Order 6±9, ECF No. 81. 

 On February 3, 2023, &RQQHOO\�PRYHG�IRU�UHFRQVLGHUDWLRQ�RI�WKH�&RXUW¶V�2UGHU in light of 

WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXLW¶V�GHFLVLRQ�Ln United States v. Rahimi, 61 F.4th 443 (5th Cir. 2023).2  Mot. 

 
2 &RQQHOO\¶V�0RWLRQ�IRU�5HFRQVLGHUDWLRQ�FLWHV�WKH�Rahimi panel opinion issued on February 2, 2023.  See 
Mot. Recons. 1; United States v. Rahimi, 59 F.4th 163 (5th Cir. 2023).  The same Fifth Circuit panel later 
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Recons. 1±2.  In response, the Government moved to hold the case in abeyance while it sought 

further review of Rahimi.  Mot. Hold Case in Abeyance �³$EH\DQFH�0RW�´� 1±2, ECF No. 88.  

Connelly opposed the Abeyance Motion on speedy trial grounds.  See Resp. Abeyance Mot. 1±3, 

ECF No. 89.  The Court denied the Abeyance Motion, Feb. 21, 2023, Text Order, and neither 

party has filed anything further regarding the Motion for Reconsideration.    

II. STANDARD 

 A. Motion for Reconsideration 

 ³$OWKRXJK�WKH�)HGHUDO�5XOHV�RI�&ULPLQDO�3URFHGXUH�GR�QRW�H[SOLFLWO\�DXWKRUL]H�PRWLRQV�

for reconsideration, district courts possess continuing jurisdiction over criminal cases and are 

IUHH�WR�UHFRQVLGHU�WKHLU�HDUOLHU�GHFLVLRQV�´��United States v. CITGO Petroleum Corp., 908 F. 

Supp. 2d 812, 820 (S.D. Tex. 2012) (citing United States v. Scott, 524 F.2d 465, 467 (5th Cir. 

1975)).  ³$EVHQW�VSHFLILF�JXLGDQFH�IURP�WKH�)HGHUDO�5XOHV�RI�&ULPLQDO�3URFHGXUH�´�FRXUWV�VKRXOG�

look to civil suits for guidance about when reconsideration is appropriate.  Id. (citing United 

States v. Rollins, 607 F.3d 500, 502 (7th Cir. 2010)).  And courts regularly reconsider civil orders 

ZKHQ�WKH�SDUWLHV�³EULQJ�DQ�LQWHUYHQLQJ�FKDQJH�LQ�WKH�FRQWUROOLQJ�ODZ�WR�WKH�&RXUW¶V�DWWHQWLRQ�´��

United States v. Quiroz, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2022 WL 4352482, at *2 (W.D. Tex. Sept. 19, 2022) 

(citing Schiller v. Physicians Res. Grp. Inc., 342 F.3d 563, 567±68 (5th Cir. 2003)). 

 B. Motion to Dismiss 

 )HGHUDO�5XOH�RI�&ULPLQDO�3URFHGXUH����DOORZV�D�SDUW\�WR�³raise by pretrial motion any 

GHIHQVH��REMHFWLRQ��RU�UHTXHVW�WKDW�WKH�FRXUW�FDQ�GHWHUPLQH�ZLWKRXW�D�WULDO�RQ�WKH�PHULWV�´��)HG��5��

&ULP��3�����E�������7KHVH�LQFOXGH�PRWLRQV�WKDW�DOOHJH�³D�GHIHFW�LQ�WKH�LQGLFWPHQW�´�LQFOXGLQJ�

³IDLOXUH�WR�VWDWH�DQ�RIIHQVH�´��Fed. R. Crim. P. 12(b)(3)(B)(v).  A court may rule on a pretrial 
 

withdrew this opinion and substituted the March 2 Rahimi opinion in its place.  Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 448.  
Unless otherwise noted, all references to Rahimi in this order refer to the March 2 opinion. 
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PRWLRQ�WR�GLVPLVV�DQ�LQGLFWPHQW�ZKHQ�WKH�DOOHJHG�LQILUPLW\�³LV�HVVHQWLDOO\�RQH�RI�ODZ�´��United 

States v. Guthrie������)��$SS¶[������������WK�&LU���������TXRWLQJ�United States v. Fontenot, 665 

F.3d 640, 644 (5th Cir. 2011)). 

III. ANALYSIS 

 A. Whether the Motion is appropriate for pretrial resolution 

As a preliminary matter, the Court considers whether the Motion to Dismiss, as re-urged 

in the Motion for Reconsideration, can be properly considered at this stage of the proceedings.  

³7KH�SURSULHW\�RI�� . . dismiss[ing] an indictment . . . by pretrial motion is by-and-large 

contingent upon whether the infirmity in the prosecution is essentially one of law or involves 

determinations of fact.´��Fontenot, 665 F.3d at 644 (quoting United States v. Flores, 404 F.3d 

320, 324 (5th Cir. 2005), abrogated on other grounds by Abramski v. United States, 573 U.S. 

169, 191 (2014)).  ³If a question of law is involved, then consideration of the motion is generally 

SURSHU�´��Id. (quoting Flores, 404 F.3d at 324). 

Neither party has conceded the extent to which Connelly or her husband used various 

controlled substances.  Compare Resp. 4 (noting the presence of suspected psilocybin in 

ConnHOO\¶V�KRXVH�DQG�GLVFXVVLQJ�KHU�KXVEDQG¶V�DOOHJHG�XVH�RI�FRFDLQH���with 'HI�¶V�Reply to 

8QLWHG�6WDWHV¶�5HVS���³5HSO\´� 2, ECF No. 74 �³7KH�RQO\�XQGLVSXWHG�HYLGHQFH�LV�WKDW�0V��

&RQQHOO\�VWDWHG�WR�RIILFHUV�WKDW�VKH�VRPHWLPHV�VPRNHG�µZHHG¶�WR�KHOS�KHU�JR�WR�VOHHS�DW�QLJKW�´����

7KH�&RXUW�GHFOLQHV�WR�PDNH�D�IDFWXDO�ILQGLQJ�RQ�WKH�H[WHQW�RI�&RQQHOO\¶V�GUXJ�XVH��VLQFH�VXFK�D�

ILQGLQJ�LV�³LQHYLWDEO\�ERXQG�XS�ZLWK�HYLGHQFH�DERXW�WKH�DOOHJHG�RIIHQVH�LWVHOI�´�DQG�WKHUHIRUH�

should be made by a jury.  See United States v. Turner, 842 F.3d 602, 605 (8th Cir. 2016) (citing 

United States v. Grimmett, 150 F.3d 958, 962 (8th Cir. 1998)); see also Flores, 404 F.3d at 325 

�QRWLQJ�WKDW�PRWLRQV�PD\�EH�UHVROYHG�SUHWULDO�RQO\�LI�WKH\�FDQ�EH�GHWHUPLQHG�³ZLWKRXW�D�WULDO�RI�
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the general LVVXH´�.  But even if Connelly and her husband used controlled substances to the 

extent alleged by the Government, the Court would find § 922(g)(3) and (d)(3) unconstitutional 

for the reasons discussed below.  Therefore, because the Court can decide the legal issues 

SUHVHQWHG�ZLWKRXW�IXUWKHU�IDFWXDO�ILQGLQJV��LW�DVVXPHV�ZLWKRXW�GHFLGLQJ�WKDW�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�

drug use allegations are true.  After resolving these IDFWXDO�GLVSXWHV�LQ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�IDYRU��

the remaining questions are purely legal ones, appropriate for consideration at this stage of the 

proceedings.  See United States v. Valencia, No. 5:17-CR-882-DAE(1)(2), 2018 WL 6182755, at 

*2 (W.D. Tex. Nov. 27, 2018) (collecting cases). 

 B. The impact of Bruen and Rahimi on May and Patterson  

 In its previous Order, the Court held that United States v. Patterson, 431 F.3d 832 (5th 

Cir. 2005), and United States v. May������)��$SS¶[�������WK�&LU���������IRUHFORVHG�&RQQHOO\¶V�

Motion to Dismiss her indictment on Second Amendment grounds.  Order 6±7.  Now, Connelly 

argues that Rahimi has rendered these precedents obsolete, enabling this Court to evaluate her 

Second Amendment argument under the standard set forth by New York State Rifle & Pistol 

$VV¶Q�Y��%UXHQ, 142 S. Ct. 2111 (2022).  Mot. Recons. 1±2.  

 May and Patterson both assessed and upheld the constitutionality of § 922(g)(3) as 

applied against marijuana users.  See May������)��$SS¶[�DW����±66; Patterson, 431 F.3d at 835±

�����&RQQHOO\�DUJXHG�WKDW�WKH�6XSUHPH�&RXUW¶V�GHFLVLRQ�LQ�Bruen implicitly overruled these 

cases.  Reply 1.  The Court disagreed, holding that Bruen did not clearly abrogate either 

precedent.  Order 7.  ³7KRXJK�WKH\�DUH�OLJKW�RQ�GHWDLO�´�WKH�&RXUW�UHDVRQHG��³ERWK�May and 

Patterson purport to apply the historical analysis that Bruen UHTXLUHV�´��Id. (first citing May, 538 

)��$SS¶[�DW������FROOHFWLQJ�FDVHV���DQG�WKHQ�FLWLQJ�Patterson, 431 F.3d at 835±36).  And in any 

event, the Court declined tR�GHWHUPLQH�³ZKHWKHU�RU�KRZ�Bruen ha[d] changed Fifth Circuit 
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precedents interpreting § �����WKDW�TXHVWLRQ�PXVW�EH�VHWWOHG�E\�WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXLW�LWVHOI�´��Id. (citing 

In re Bonvillian Marine Serv., Inc., 19 F.4th 787, 789 (5th Cir. 2021)). 

 Just over one PRQWK�DIWHU�WKH�&RXUW¶V�2UGHU��Whe Fifth Circuit settled that very question in 

Rahimi.  See 61 F.4th at 450±51.  In that case, Rahimi raised a Second Amendment challenge to 

18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(8), which makes it a felony to possess a firearm while subject to a domestic 

violence restraining order.  Id. at 449±50.  Rahimi initially acknowledged that Fifth Circuit 

precedent foreclosed his argument, but he later argued that Bruen overruled that precedent.  Id.  

The Fifth Circuit agreed.  See id. at 450.  Even though Bruen did not directly address 

§ 922(g)(8), the Rahimi FRXUW�KHOG�WKDW�³Bruen FOHDUO\�µIXQGDPHQWDOO\�FKDQJH>G@¶�RXU�DQDO\VLV�RI�

laws that implicate the Second Amendment . . ��UHQGHULQJ�RXU�SULRU�SUHFHGHQW�REVROHWH�´��Id. at 

450±51 (quoting Bonvillian, 19 F.4th at 792).  The Rahimi court went on to apply Bruen¶V�

standard to § 922(g)(8) directly, without discussing pre-Bruen precedent.  See id. at 454±61. 

 Though it did not mention May or Patterson specifically, the Court finds that Rahimi 

recognized the abrogation of those precedents as well.  Rahimi did not confine its reasoning to 

cases involving § 922(g)(8); it held that Bruen rendered WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXLW¶V�SULRU�Second 

Amendment precedent obsolete without qualification.  See id. at 450±51.  Moreover, the two 

cases that Rahimi specifically disavowed contained more historical analysis than May and 

Patterson do.  Compare United States v. McGinnis, 956 F.3d 747, 756±58 (5th Cir. 2020); and 

United States v. Emerson, 270 F.3d 203, 236±60 (5th Cir. 2001), with May������)��$SS¶[�DW������

and Patterson, 431 F.3d at 835±36.  And Patterson¶V�DQDO\VLV�UHOLHG�KHDYLO\�RQ�DQ�DQDORJ\�

between drug users and those subject to domestic restraining orders, citing a case that Rahimi 

would later expressly disclaim.  See Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 450±51 (overruling Emerson, 270 F.3d 

203); Patterson, 431 F.3d at 835±36 (citing Emerson, 270 F.3d at 261).  If Bruen changed the 
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analysis of Second Amendment challenges to the point where McGinnis and Emerson cannot 

stand, it follows that May and Patterson are no longer good law either.  And because it nullified 

the EDVLV�IRU�WKH�&RXUW¶V�SULRU�2UGHU��Rahimi constitutes an intervening change in the law 

warranting reconsideration.  See Quiroz, 2022 WL 4352482, at *2. 

 C. Bruen¶V�two-step framework 

The Court must follow Rahimi¶V�H[DPSOH�DQG�DSSO\�WKH�VWDQGDUG�VHW�IRUWK�LQ�Bruen 

without resort to WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXLW¶V�SUH-Bruen precedent.  See Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 451.  This 

DQDO\VLV�SURFHHGV�LQ�WZR�VWHSV���)LUVW��WKH�&RXUW�PXVW�³GHWHUPLQH�ZKHWKHU�µWKH�6HFRQG�

$PHQGPHQW¶V�SODLQ�WH[W FRYHUV�DQ�LQGLYLGXDO¶V�FRQGXFW�¶´��Id. at 453 (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. 

at 2129±30 (alteration omitted))���³,I�VR��WKHQ�WKH�µ&RQVWLWXWLRQ�SUHVXPSWLYHO\�SURWHFWV�WKDW�

FRQGXFW�¶�DQG�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�µPXVW�MXVWLI\�LWV�UHJXODWLRQ�E\�GHPRQVWUDWLQJ�WKDW�LW�LV�FRnsistent 

with the Nation¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�UHJXODWLRQ�¶´��Id. (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 

��������³7R�FDUU\�LWV�EXUGHQ��WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�PXVW�SRLQW�WR�µKLVWRULFDO�SUHFHGHQW�IURP�EHIRUH��

GXULQJ��DQG�HYHQ�DIWHU�WKH�IRXQGLQJ�>WKDW@�HYLQFHV�D�FRPSDUDEOH�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�UHJXODWLRQ�¶´� Id. at 

454 (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2131±32 (alterations in Rahimi)).   

 D. Scope of ³the SHRSOH´�FRYHUHG�E\�WKH Second Amendment 

 %HIRUH�DQDO\]LQJ�ZKHWKHU�&RQQHOO\¶V�conduct falls within the scope of the Second 

Amendment at step one of the Bruen framework, the Court must consider whether Connelly as 

an individual can claim protection under the Second Amendment.  The Government contends 

that WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�RQO\�SURWHFWV�³ODZ-DELGLQJ��UHVSRQVLEOH�FLWL]HQV�´�DQG�WKDW�&RQQHOO\�

does not fall within this group because of her alleged drug use.  See Resp. 7±11.  Connelly 
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UHVSRQGV�WKDW�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�SURWHFWV�DOO�³PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�SROLWLFDO�FRPPXQLW\�´��5HSO\�

2.3 

 Rahimi GLVFXVVHG�WKLV�DUJXPHQW�DQG�JHQHUDOO\�DGRSWHG�&RQQHOO\¶V�YLHZ���See 61 F.4th at 

451±53.  Rahimi REVHUYHG�WKDW�³WKH�ZRUGV�µWKH�SHRSOH¶�LQ�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�KDYH�EHHQ�

LQWHUSUHWHG�WKURXJKRXW�WKH�&RQVWLWXWLRQ�WR�µXQDPELJXRXVO\�UHIHU>@�WR�DOO�PHPEHUV�RI�WKH�SROLWLFDO�

FRPPXQLW\��QRW�DQ�XQVSHFLILHG�VXEVHW�¶´��Id. at 451 (quoting District of Columbia v. Heller, 554 

U.S. 570, 580 (2008)).  And the opinion rejected the argument that ³QRQ-law-DELGLQJ´�SHRSOH�

FRXOG�EH�H[FOXGHG�IURP�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�VFRSH��reasoning that such an interpretation of 

WKH�$PHQGPHQW�³DGPLWV�WR�QR�WUXH�OLPLWLQJ�SULQFLSOH�´��Id. at 453.  The Fifth Circuit thus 

FRQFOXGHG�WKDW�³5DKLPL��ZKLOH�KDUGO\�D�PRGHO�FLWL]HQ��LV�QRQHWKHOHVV�DPRQJ�µWKH�SHRSOH¶�HQWLWOHG�

to the Second Amendment¶V�JXDUDQWHHV��DOO�RWKHU�WKLQJV�HTXDO�´��Id. 

 But Rahimi also appears to leave open the possibility that certain groups of people may 

EH�FDWHJRULFDOO\�H[FOXGHG�IURP�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�SURWHFWLRQ���7KH�RSLQLRQ�H[SODLQV�WKDW�

WKH�6XSUHPH�&RXUW¶V�UHIHUHQFHV�WR�³ODZ-DELGLQJ�´�³UHVSRQVLEOH�´�RU�³RUGLQDU\´�FLWL]HQV�ZHUH�RQO\�

PHDQW�³WR�H[FOXGH�IURP�WKH�&RXUW¶s discussion groups that have historically been stripped of their 

6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�ULJKWV��L�H���JURXSV�ZKRVH�GLVDUPDPHQW�WKH�)RXQGHUV�µSUHVXPSWLYHO\¶�

WROHUDWHG�RU�ZRXOG�KDYH�WROHUDWHG�´��Id. at 452 (citing Heller, 554 U.S. at 627 n.26).  The opinion 

continues:  

Rahimi did not fall into any such group at the time he was charged with violating 
§ ����J������VR�WKH�³VWURQJ�SUHVXPSWLRQ´�WKDW�KH�UHPDLQHG�DPRQJ�³WKH�SHRSOH´�
protected by the amendment holds. . . .  [W]hile he was suspected of other 
criminal conduct at the time, Rahimi was not a convicted felon or otherwise 
VXEMHFW�WR�DQRWKHU�³ORQJVWDQGLQJ�SURKLELWLRQ>�@�RQ�WKH�SRVVHVVLRQ�RI�ILUHDUPV´�WKDW�
would have excluded him. 

 
3 In its previous Order, the Court assumed without deciding that Connelly and her alleged conduct fell 
within the scope of the Second Amendment, because her request for dismissal was foreclosed by May  
and Patterson, regardless.  See Order 3 n.2. 
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Id. (emphasis in original) (quoting Heller, 554 U.S. at 626±27).  Rahimi thus suggests that if an 

individual belongs to a group that has long been prohibited from possessing firearms, the Second 

Amendment may not protect that individual at all, even if their conduct would otherwise fall 

within its scope.  See also id. at 464 �+R��-���FRQFXUULQJ���³>7@KH�JRYHUQPHQW�FDQ�SUHVXPDEO\�

GLVDUP�GDQJHURXV�FRQYLFWHG�IHORQV��ZKHWKHU�WKH\¶UH�LQFDUFHUDWHG�RU�QRW��ZLWKRXW�YLRODWLQJ�WKH�

6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�´�� 

 Even if the Second Amendment may categorically exclude some individuals, it does not 

exclude Connelly.  She does not fall within any of the groups mentioned in Heller that were 

VXEMHFW�WR�³ORQJVWDQGLQJ�SURKLELWLRQV�RQ�WKH�SRVVHVVLRQ�RI�ILUHDUPV�´��See 554 U.S. at 626±27.4  

And while &RQQHOO\��OLNH�5DKLPL��LV�³suspected of [ @�FULPLQDO�FRQGXFW�´�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�KDV�

produced no evidence showing Connelly has a prior felony or drug conviction on her record.  See 

Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 452 (emphasis in original)���,QGHHG��&RQQHOO\¶V�VXVSHFWHG�FULPLQDO�FRQGXFW²

using controlled substances on occasion in her home²SDOHV�LQ�FRPSDULVRQ�WR�5DKLPL¶V²

instigating five separate shootings in just over a month.  Compare id. at 448±49, with Compl. 

¶¶ 10±�����,I�5DKLPL�FDQ�FODLP�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�SURWHFWLRQ��WKHQ�&RQQHOO\�FDQ�DV�ZHOO� 

 E. Constitutionality of § 922(g)(3) 

 
4 Heller¶V�OLVW�RI�³ORQJVWDQGLQJ�SURKLELWLRQV´�GRHV�QRW�³SXUSRUW�WR�EH�H[KDXVWLYH.´  Id. at 626±27 & n.26.  
But as discussed below, the Court finds little evidence that a categorical prohibition on the possession of 
ILUHDUPV�E\�GUXJ�XVHUV�³LV�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKLV�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�UHJXODWLRQ�´��See 
Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2126.  To be sure, the question of whether historical traditions can justify a 
categorical regulation is analytically distinct from the question of whether the Second Amendment 
protects a regulated category of people.  But the two questions are closely related.  See Kanter v. Barr, 
919 F.3d 437, 452 (7th Cir. 2019) (Barrett, J., dissenting) �³>7KH�WZR@�DSSURDFKHV�ZLOO�W\SLFDOO\�\LHOG�WKH�
same result; one uses history and tradition to identify the scope of the right, and the other uses that same 
ERG\�RI�HYLGHQFH�WR�LGHQWLI\�WKH�VFRSH�RI�WKH�OHJLVODWXUH¶V�SRZHU�WR�WDNH�LW�DZD\�´�, cited with approval in 
Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 451±52.  Therefore, for much the same reasons that RXU�1DWLRQ¶V�history does not 
justify the categorical disarmament of users of controlled substances, &RQQHOO\¶V�DOOHJHG�XVH�RI�FRQWUROOHG�
substances does not put her, as an individual, RXWVLGH�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�VFRSH� 
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  1. Conduct 

 Because Connelly personally IDOOV�ZLWKLQ�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�VFRSH��WKH�&RXUW�

considers whether § 922(g)(3) unconstitutionally infringes on her right to keep and bear arms.  

Under Bruen and Rahimi, the Court must first decide whether § 922(g)(3) burdens conduct 

protected by the Second Amendment.  See Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2129±30; Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 

453.  As in Rahimi��WKH�FKDOOHQJHG�ODZ�SURKLELWV�&RQQHOO\�IURP�³SRVVHVV>LQJ@�� . . any firearm or 

ammunition,´����8�6�&��� ����J���DQG�³µSRVVHVVLRQ¶�LV�LQFOXGHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�PHDQLQJ�RI�µNHHS¶´�DV�

used in the Second Amendment.  Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 454 (citing Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2134±35).  

The specific weapons Connelly is accused of possessing²rifles, handguns, a shotgun, and 

ammunition²also appear to be ³µLQ�FRPPRQ�XVH>@¶�VXFK�WKDW�they fall within the scope of the 

DPHQGPHQW�´��See id. at 454 (citing Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2143); Superseding Indictment 3±4 

(listing weapons and ammunition allegedly possessed by Connelly).  Accordingly, § 922(g)(3) 

burdens conduct protected by the Second Amendment. 

  2. Historical justification 

Turning to Bruen¶V�VHFRQG�VWHS��WKH�&RXUW�PXVW�FRQVLGHU�ZKHWKHU�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�KDV�

demonstrated that § ����J�����³LV�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKLV�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�

UHJXODWLRQ�´������6��&W��DW��������This standard does not require the Government to identify a 

³µKLVWRULFDO�twin¶��UDWKHU��D�µZHOO-established and representative historical analogue¶ VXIILFHV�´��

Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 454 (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2133 (emphasis in Bruen)).  At bottom, 

³>W@KH�FRUH�TXHVWLRQ�LV�ZKHWKHU�WKH�FKDOOHQJHG�ODZ�DQG�SURIIHUHG�DQDORJXH�DUH�µUHOHYDQWO\�

VLPLODU�¶´�HVSHFLDOO\�UHJDUGLQJ�³how the challenged law burdens the right to armed self-defense, 

and why WKH�ODZ�EXUGHQV�WKDW�ULJKW�´��Id. (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2132±33 (emphasis in 

Bruen)).  
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 &RQQHOO\�DUJXHV�WKDW�D�KHLJKWHQHG�³GLVWLQFWO\�VLPLODU´�VWDQGDUG�VKRXOG�DSSO\�WR�KHU�

challenge.  Mot. Dismiss 8.  She bases this argument on Bruen¶V�REVHUYDWLRQ that ³ZKHQ a 

challenged regulation addresses a general societal problem that has persisted since the 18th 

century, the lack of a distinctly similar historical regulation addressing that problem is relevant 

HYLGHQFH�WKDW�WKH�FKDOOHQJHG�UHJXODWLRQ�LV�LQFRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�´������6��&W��

at 2131 (emphasis added); see also Mot. Dismiss 6±8 (arguing that this passage requires a 

heightened standard of review).  But this language only illustrates the type of evidence courts 

might consider; it does not suggest the existence of a separate standard of review.  Rahimi 

supports this reading: IW�VWDWHG�WKDW�WKH�³FRUH�TXHVWLRQ´�LQ�HYDOXDWLQJ�6HFRQG�Amendment 

FKDOOHQJHV�LV�³ZKHWKHU�WKH�FKDOOHQJHG�ODZ�DQG�SURIIHUHG�DQDORJXH�DUH�µUHOHYDQWO\�VLPLODU�¶´�

without mentioning cases where distinct similarity may be required.  See 61 F.4th at 454 

(quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2132).  Moreover, Rahimi applied thH�³UHOHYDQWO\�VLPLODU´�VWDQGDUG�

to § 922(g)(8)²a law involving domestic violence restraining orders²even though domestic 

violence is a societal problem that has existed since the founding era.  See id. at 454±61.   

 Therefore, the Government must demonstrate that § ����J�����LV�³UHOHYDQWO\�VLPLODU´�WR�

historical gun regulations in how and why it burdens the Second Amendment right.  See id. at 

454.  The Government advances two arguments on this point.  First, it argues that § 922(g)(3) 

falls within a longstaQGLQJ�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�³UHVWULFWLQJ�WKH�ILUHDUPV�ULJKWV�RI�WKRVH�ZKR�EHFRPH�

LQWR[LFDWHG�´��5HVS����±16.  Second, the Government argues that § 922(g)(3) falls within the 

broader tradition of disarming categories of individuals deemed dangerous, irresponsible, or 

unvirtuous.  See id. at 12±14, 16±20. 
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   a. Laws on intoxication 

 The Government identifies two laws from the colonial era that regulated firearm use in 

relation to alcohol use.  Resp. 15.  7KH�*RYHUQPHQW�DOVR�LGHQWLILHV�VL[�ODZV�IURP�³WKH�HUD�

IROORZLQJ�UDWLILFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�)RXUWHHQWK�$PHQGPHQW�LQ�����´�WKDW�UHJXODWHG�ILUHDUP�XVH�E\�

intoxicated individuals.  Id. at 15±16.5   

    i. Colonial Virginia law 

 First, the Government cites a law enacted in colonial Virginia in 1655.  Id. at 15.  This 

law SURKLELWHG�WKH�³VKRRW>LQJ@�any gunns at drinkeing (marriages and ffuneralls onely excepted) 

>VLF@�´��$FW�;,,�RI�0DUFK����������������9D��/DZV���������±02.   

 The Virginia law is not relevantly similar to § 922(g)(3) because it regulates firearms 

differently and for different reasons.  First, the laws differ with respect to why they regulated gun 

use.  The Virginia law focused on protecting the colony from potential attacks by Native 

$PHULFDQV��QRWLQJ�WKDW�³WKH�RQO\�PHDQV�IRU�WKH�GLVFRYHU\�RI�WKHLU�SORtts is by allarms, of which 

no certainty can be had in respect of the frequent shooting of gunns in drinking [sic]�´��1655 Va. 

Laws at 401.  Relatedly, the Virginia law also aimed at conserving military resources, expressing 

FRQFHUQV�DERXW�WKH�³EHDVWO\�YLFH�>RI@�VSHQGLQJ�PXFK�>JXQ@SRZGHU�LQ�YDLQH��WKDW�PLJKW�EH�

reserved against the comon HQHPLH�>VLF@�´��Id.   

 In contrast, the Gun Control Act of 1968²the law that first prohibited users of controlled 

substances from possessing firearms²DLPHG�WR�³SURYLGH�VXSSRUW�WR�)HGHUDO��6WDWH��DQG�ORFDO�ODZ�

enforcement officials in their fight against crLPH�DQG�YLROHQFH´ generally.  Pub. L. No. 90-618, 

 
5 The Government does not identify any historical laws that prevented marijuana users or other drug users 
from owning or using firearms.  See generally Resp.  Connelly suggests that this fact should settle the 
case in her favor.  See 0RW��'LVPLVV�����%XW�³VRPHZKDW�DEVWUDFWLQJ�WKH�ODZV¶�MXVWLILFDWLRQV�. . . strikes [the 
Court] as consistent with Bruen¶V�LQVWUXFWLRQ�WKDW�µHYHQ�LI�D�PRGHUQ-day regulation is not a dead ringer for 
KLVWRULFDO�SUHFXUVRUV��LW�VWLOO�PD\�EH�DQDORJRXV�HQRXJK�WR�SDVV�FRQVWLWXWLRQDO�PXVWHU�¶´��Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 
460 n.10 (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2133). 
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§ 101, 82 Stat. 1213, 1213 (1968); see also Scarborough v. United States, 431 U.S. 563, 572 

��������GHVFULELQJ�WKH�SXUSRVH�RI�WKH�*XQ�&RQWURO�$FW�DV�³NHHS>LQJ@�JXQV�RXW�RI�WKH�KDQGV�RI�

those who have demonsWUDWHG�WKDW�µWKH\�PD\�QRW�EH�WUXVWHG�WR�SRVVHVV�D�ILUHDUP�ZLWKRXW�

EHFRPLQJ�D�WKUHDW�WR�VRFLHW\¶´��TXRWLQJ�����&RQJ��5HF�������������������Far from seeking to 

protect citizens from outside threats, the Gun Control Act sought to preserve domestic order by 

preventing violent crime.  Such concerns doubtless existed in the Virginia colony in 1655, but 

the Government has not cited any law that addressed those problems with restrictions on gun use. 

 %XW�HYHQ�LI�WKH�ODZV¶�XQGHUO\LQJ�SXUSRVHV�ZHUH�GHHPHG�UHOHYDQWO\�similar, they differ in 

how they regulate firearm use in two critical respects: the Virginia law prevented individuals 

from using firearms while actively intoxicated, while § 922(g)(3) prevents users of intoxicants 

from possessing firearms altogether.  Compare 1655 Va. Laws at 401±02, with 18 U.S.C. 

§ 922(g)(3).  Though § ����J�����UHTXLUHV�VRPH�WHPSRUDO�QH[XV�EHWZHHQ�D�SHUVRQ¶V�GUXJ�XVH�DQG�

firearm possession, the law allows long gaps between the two.  See United States v. Cook, 970 

F.3d 8����������WK�&LU���������³>$@�SHUVRQ�ZKR�URXWLQHO\�XVHV�PDULMXDQD�RQ�ZHHNHQGV�PD\�

YLRODWH�VHFWLRQ�����J�����E\�SRVVHVVLQJ�D�ILUHDUP�RQ�D�7XHVGD\�RU�:HGQHVGD\�´������&�)�5��

§ ��������VWDWLQJ�WKDW�³>D@Q�LQIHUHQFH�RI�FXUUHQW�XVH�PD\�EH�GUDZQ�IURP�HYLGHQFH´�RI a positive 

GUXJ�WHVW��³SURYLGHG�WKDW�WKH�WHVW�ZDV�DGPLQLVWHUHG�ZLWKLQ�WKH�SDVW�\HDU´����Prohibiting individuals 

who have used drugs sometime in the last year from owning and keeping a firearm in their 

homes for self-defense is a much more burdensome infringement RQ�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�

³FRUH�SURWHFWLRQ,´ than preventing people from shooting their guns while intoxicated.  See 

Heller, 554 U.S. at 634±35. 

 To illustrate the point, consider an analogy to motor vehicles.  The Virginia law regulated 

guns in much the same way that modern driving-under-the-LQIOXHQFH��³DUI´� laws regulate cars: 
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it prevented individuals from using dangerous equipment while intoxication might impair their 

abilities and judgment.  Consider instead a law that would prevent individuals from possessing 

cars at all if they regularly drink alcohol on weekends.  Nobody would say that this hypothetical 

law is similar to DUI laws in how it regulates cars.  The hypothetical law¶V focus on possession, 

rather than use, of the vehicle imposes a much greater burden on drivers.  A similar distinction 

exists between § 922(g)(3) and the Virginia law.  The two laws, therefore, are not relevantly 

similar. 

    ii. Colonial New York law 

 Second, the Government cites a law enacted in colonial New York in 1771.  Resp. 15.  

This law SURKLELWHG�WKH�³ILU>LQJ] or discharge [of] any Gun, Pistol, Rocket, Cracker, Squib or 

RWKHU�ILUH�:RUN�>VLF@´�in certain areas between December 31 and January 2.  Ch. 1501, 

5 Colonial Laws of New York 244±45 (1894).  The law expired in 1773.  Id. at 244. 

 Like the Virginia law, this New York laws differs from § 922(g)(3) in why it burdens the 

Second Amendment right, albeit to a lesser extent.  TKH�1HZ�<RUN�ODZ�DGGUHVVHG�WKH�³JUHDW�

Damages [ ] frequently done on . . . New Years Days, by persons going from House to House, 

ZLWK�*XQV�DQG�RWKHU�)LUH�$UPV�DQG�EHLQJ�RIWHQ�LQWR[LFDWHG�ZLWK�/LTXRU�´��Id.  To some degree, 

this law focuses on maintaining public order and preventing firearm-related injuries, much like 

the Gun Control Act did.  But the New York law addressed the specific dangers posed by New 

<HDU¶V�(YH�SDUW\JRHUV�LQ�FHUWDLQ�SDUWV�RI�WKH�1HZ�<RUN�FRORQ\��UDWKHU�WKDQ�WKH�general dangers 

posed by armed criminals across the country.  Compare id., with Gun Control Act, Pub. L. 

No. 90-618, § 101, 82 Stat. at 1213.  The New York law thus bears a closer similarity to 

UHVWULFWLRQV�RQ�WKH�XVH�RI�ILUHDUPV�³LQ�VHQVLWLYH�SODFHV´�WKDQ�LW�GRHV�WR�FDWHJRULFDO�UHVWULFWLRQV�RQ�

firearm possession by classes of people.  Cf. Heller, 554 U.S. at 626±27 & n.26. 
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 Furthermore, the New York law is not relevantly similar to § 922(g)(3) in how it 

regulated firearms.  To start, the New York law did not restrict the ability of intoxicated people 

to use firearms; it prevented anyone from using firearms in certain areas because many people 

there would be intoxicated GXULQJ�WKH�1HZ�<HDU¶V�KROLGD\.  See Colonial Laws of New York, 

supra, at 244±45.  In that sense, the New York law imposed a greater restriction on firearm use 

than § 922(g)(3).  But the broader applicability of the New York law was tempered by the fact 

that it only prohibited the use of firearms for three days out of the year.  Id.  And much like the 

Virginia law, the New York law limited the regulated activity to gun use, rather than gun 

possession.  Id. at 245.  Unlike § 922(g)(3), the New York law thus left ample room for 

individuals to keep guns in their homes for self-defense, even during the holiday period.  Cf. 

Heller������8�6��DW������³,W�LV�LQFRQFHLYDEOH�WKDW�>WKH�1HZ�<RUN@�ODZ�ZRXOG�KDYH�EHHQ�HQIRUFHG�

against a person exercising his right to self-GHIHQVH�RQ�1HZ�<HDU¶V�'D\�DJDLQVW�VXFK�GUXQNHQ�

KRROLJDQV�´��  

 Finally, any slight similarities between the New York law and § 922(g)(3) do not 

establish that § ����J�����³LV�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKLV�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHarm 

UHJXODWLRQ�´��See Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2126.  As one district court has pointed out, the New York 

ODZ�³ZDV�LQ�HIIHFW�IRU�RQO\�WZR�\HDUV��DSSOLHG�WR�RQO\�FHUWDLQ�SODFHV�LQ�RQH�FRXQW\�DQG�WZR�

towns, and restricted the discharge of firearms for only three GD\V�D�\HDU�´��United States v. 

Harrison, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2023 WL 1771138, at *9 (W.D. Okla. Feb. 3, 2023).  And the 

Government cites no laws that bear even a passing resemblance to the New York law that were 

enacted between 1771 and 1868.  See Resp. 15±�����7KXV��³LW�LV�GLIILFXOW�WR�VHH�KRZ�>WKH�1HZ�

<RUN@�ODZ�FRXOG�LQGLFDWH�DQ\�VRUW�RI�µZHOO-HVWDEOLVKHG�¶�FRQVWLWXWLRQDOO\�UHOHYDQW�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�

UHJXODWLRQ�´��Harrison, 2023 WL 1771138, at *9 (footnote omitted) (quoting Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 
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2133); see also Bruen������6��&W��DW�������³>:@H�GRXEW�WKDW�three colonial regulations could 

suffice to show a tradition of public-FDUU\�UHJXODWLRQ�´��HPSKDVLV�LQ�RULJLQDO��� 

    iii. Reconstruction-era laws 

 In addition to the two colonial laws, the Government cites six Reconstruction-era laws 

that regulated firearm use by intoxicated individuals.  See Resp. 15±16.  From the outset, the 

Court questions the persuasiveness of these laws.  As Bruen observed: 

[W]hen it comes to interpreting the Constitution, not all history is created equal.  
³&RQVWLWXWLRQDO�ULJKWV�DUH�HQVKULQHG�ZLWK�WKH�VFRSH�WKH\�ZHUH�XQGHUVWRRG�WR�KDYH�
when the people adopted them�´�� . .  The Second Amendment was adopted in 
1791; the Fourteenth in 1868.  Historical evidence that long predates [or 
postdates] either date may not illuminate the scope of the right if linguistic or 
legal conventions changed in the intervening years. 
 

142 S. Ct. at 2136 (quoting Heller, 554 U.S. at 634±35 (emphasis in Bruen)).  While Bruen 

considered evidence from the mid-nineteenth century, see id. at 2150±53, it only did so because 

³WKH�SXEOLF�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�ULJKW�WR�NHHS�DQG�EHDU�DUPV�LQ�ERWK������DQG������ZDV�� . . the 

same with respect to public carry�´�id. at 2138 (emphasis added).  Elsewhere, courts generally 

DVVXPH�WKDW�³WKH�VFRSH�RI�WKH�SURWHFWLRQ�DSSOLFDEOH�WR�WKH�)HGHUDO�*RYHUQPHQW�DQG�6WDWHV�LV�

SHJJHG�WR�WKH�SXEOLF�XQGHUVWDQGLQJ�RI�WKH�ULJKW�ZKHQ�WKH�%LOO�RI�5LJKWV�ZDV�DGRSWHG�LQ������´��

Id. at 2137. 

 Here, the Court has even less reason to consider Reconstruction-era evidence than the 

Bruen Court did.  Bruen involved a state firearm regulation, and VWDWHV�DUH�³bound to respect the 

ULJKW�WR�NHHS�DQG�EHDU�DUPV�EHFDXVH�RI�WKH�)RXUWHHQWK�$PHQGPHQW��QRW�WKH�6HFRQG�´��Id.  But 

§ 922(g)(3) is a federal law, and the Second Amendment has applied against the federal 

JRYHUQPHQW�VLQFH�WKH�UDWLILFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�%LOO�RI�5LJKWV�LQ��������$FFRUGLQJO\��WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�

³DSSHDOV�WR�5HFRQVWUXFWLRQ-era history [may] fail for the independent reason that this evidence is 
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VLPSO\�WRR�ODWH�´��Id. at 2163 (Barrett, J., concurring) (citing (VSLQR]D�Y��0RQW��'HS¶W�RI�5HYHQXH, 

140 S. Ct. 2246, 2258±59 (2020)).  Tellingly, when Rahimi analyzed a federal law under Bruen¶V�

standard, it spent little time discussing Reconstruction-era laws.  See 61 F.4th at 456±61.6 

 Even assuming that these Reconstruction-era laws can inform the original public 

understanding of the Second Amendment, they do not suffice to establish the constitutionality of 

§ 922(g)(3).  These laws suffer from much the same problems as the colonial laws discussed 

above: they prevented individuals from using or carrying firearms while intoxicated, rather than 

preventing users of intoxicants from possessing firearms at all.  Compare 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(3), 

with 1899 S.C. Acts 97, § ���IRUELGGLQJ�WKH�³GLVFKDUJH�>RI@�DQ\�JXQ��SLVWRO��RU�RWKHU�

firearms . . . ZLWKLQ�ILIW\�\DUGV�RI�DQ\�SXEOLF�URDG´�ZKLOH�³XQGHU�WKH�LQIOXHQFH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLQJ�

OLTXRUV´��������2NOD��6HVV��/DZV������DUW������� 4 (prohibiting public officers from carrying arms 

³ZKLOH�XQGHU�WKH�LQIOXHQFH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLQJ�GULQNV´��������:LV��6HVV��/DZV������� 3 (making it 

³XQODZIXO�IRU�DQ\�SHUVRQ�LQ�D�VWDWH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLRQ��WR�JR�DUPHG�ZLWK�DQ\�SLVWRO�RU�UHYROYHU´���

1883 Mo. Laws 76, § 1 (making LW�XQODZIXO�WR�³KDYH�RU�FDUU\�>ILUHDUPV@�XSRQ�RU�DERXW�>RQH¶V@�

SHUVRQ�ZKHQ�LQWR[LFDWHG�RU�XQGHU�WKH�LQIOXHQFH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLQJ�GULQNV´���and Kan. Gen. Stat., 

Crime & Punishments § ������������SURKLELWLQJ�³DQ\�SHUVRQ�XQGHU�WKH�LQIOXHQFH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLQJ�

drink´�IURP�³FDUU\LQJ�RQ�KLV�SHUVRQ�D�SLVWRO�� . ��RU�RWKHU�GHDGO\�ZHDSRQ´��7  These laws thus 

 
6 Rahimi discussed a ³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZ�HQDFWHG�LQ�9LUJLQLD in 1847, but only to note that the legislature 
altered the law two years later.  See id. at 458 & n.8.  Rahimi DOVR�REVHUYHG�LQ�D�IRRWQRWH�WKDW�³WHQ�
MXULVGLFWLRQV�HQDFWHG�VXUHW\�ODZV�EHWZHHQ������DQG������´��Id. at 459 n.9 (citing Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 
2148).  But the opinion IRFXVHG�LWV�DQDO\VLV�RI�VXUHW\�ODZV�RQ�VWDWXWHV�FRGLILHG�³EHIRUH�UDWLILFDWLRQ�RI�WKH�
Bill RI�5LJKWV�RU�LQ�HDUO\�GHFDGHV�WKHUHDIWHU�´��Id. at 459±60 & n.9. 
7 The Government also cites an 1878 Mississippi law that regulated the sale of firearms, rather than the 
use or carrying of firearms.  Resp. 15 (citing 1878 Miss. Laws 175±76, § 2).  But this law still only 
DSSOLHG�WR�FDVHV�ZKHUH�WKH�VHOOHU�NQHZ�WKH�FXVWRPHU�ZDV�³LQ�D�VWDWH�RI�LQWR[LFDWLRQ�´�������0LVV��/DZV�
175±76, § 2. 
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regulated firearms in a much less intrusive way than § 922(g)(3), making them relevantly 

dissimilar. 

 To summarize, the historical intoxication laws cited by the Government generally 

addressed specific societal problems with narrow restrictions on gun use, while § 922(g)(3) 

addresses widespread criminal issues with a broad restriction on gun possession.  The laws, 

therefore, are not relevantly similar in how and why they regulate firearms, and do not suffice to 

establish the constitutionality of § 922(g)(3). 

   b. Broader categorical restrictions 

 In addition to its appeal to historical laws regarding intoxication, the Government argues 

that § 922(g)(3) falls within broader²and more abstract²traditions of gun regulation, which 

include GLVDUPLQJ�³SRWHQWLDOO\�GDQJHURXV�JURXSV�´�³FLWL]HQV�ZKR�DUH�QRW�ODZ-abiding and 

UHVSRQVLEOH�´�³XQYLUWXRXV�� . ��FLWL]HQV�´�DQG�³SUHVXPSWLYHO\�ULVN\�SHRSOH�´��See Resp. 12±18.  

Because drug users fall within some or all of these groups, the Government argues, § 922(g)(3) is 

constitutional.  See id. at 11±20.8 

    i. ³8QYLUWXRXV´�LQGLYLGXDOV 

 The Court questions the applicability of these broader traditions to Connelly specifically, 

and drug users generally.  First, it is unclear whether legal authorities at the founding era would 

FRQVLGHU�&RQQHOO\¶V�KRPHERXQG�drug XVH�³XQYLUWXRXV�´��&RORQLDO-era jurist William Blackstone, 

IRU�H[DPSOH��GUHZ�D�GLVWLQFWLRQ�EHWZHHQ�³SXEOLF�DQG�SULYDWH�YLFHV�´�ZLWK�WKH�IRUPHU�DPHQDEOH�WR�

 
8 District courts in the Fifth Circuit have upheld § 922(g)(3) against Second Amendment challenges post-
Bruen, largely employing these broader traditions.  See United States v. Black, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2023 
WL 122920, at *3±4 (W.D. La. Jan. 6, 2023); United States v. Sanchez, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 2022 WL 
17815116, at *3 (W.D. Tex. Dec. 19, 2022); United States v. Daniels, 610 F. Supp. 3d 892, 895±97 (S.D. 
Miss. 2022).  The Court respectfully disagrees with these cases for the reasons detailed below.  Further, 
WKH�&RXUW�QRWHV�WKDW�DOO�WKUHH�RI�WKHVH�FDVHV�SUHGDWHG�WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXLW¶V�GHFLVLRQ�LQ�Rahimi, which cast 
doubt on the applicability of these broader historical traditions to § 922(g)(3).  See 61 F.4th at 450±51, 
453. 
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WKH�³SXQLVKPHQWV�RI�KXPDQ�WULEXQDOV�´�DQG�WKH�ODWWHU�subject only WR�³HWHUQDO�MXVWLFH�´��� William 

Blackstone, Commentaries on the Laws of England 42 (1769).  Notably, Blackstone opined that 

³WKH�YLFH�RI�GUXQNHQQHVV��LI�FRPPLWWHG�SULYDWHO\�DQG�DORQH��LV�EH\RQG�WKH�NQRZOHGJH�DQG�RI�

course beyond the reach of human tribunals: but if committed publicly, in the face of the world, 

[its] eYLO�H[DPSOH�PDNHV�LW�OLDEOH�WR�WHPSRUDO�FHQVXUHV�´��Id. at 41±�����&RQQHOO\¶V�DOOHJHG�GUXJ�

use more resembles private drinking than public drunkenness, casting doubt on the idea that 

history supports criminalizing or disarming her for this behavior.  And more generally, nothing 

in § 922(g)(3) limits its applicability to public dangers or active intoxication, putting it out of 

step with colonial-era attitudes.  Cf. Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 457 (distinguishing historical laws aimed 

generally DW�WKH�³SUHVHUYDWLRQ�RI�SROLWLFDO�DQG�VRFLDO�RUGHU´�IURP�PRGHUQ�ODZV�DLPHG�DW�

addressing specific issues). 

    ii. ,QGLYLGXDOV�ZKR�DUH�³QRW�ODZ-DELGLQJ´ 

 6HFRQG��KLVWRU\�GRHV�QRW�VXSSRUW�GLVDUPLQJ�&RQQHOO\�EHFDXVH�VKH�LV�³QRW�ODZ-DELGLQJ�´��

Certainly, &RQQHOO\¶V�DOOHJHG�drug use, if proven, would violate federal law.  See 21 U.S.C. 

§ 844.  %XW�³QR�RQH�HYHQ�WRGD\�UHDGV�>6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�KLVWRU\@�WR�VXSSRUW�WKH�GLVDUPDPHQW�

RI�OLWHUDOO\�DOO�FULPLQDOV��HYHQ�QRQYLROHQW�PLVGHPHDQDQWV�´��Kanter, 919 F.3d at 456 (Barrett, J., 

dissenting); see also Rahimi�����)��WK�DW�����Q�����³7KHUH�LV�VLPSO\�QR�WUDGLWLRQ²from 1791 or 

1866²of prohibiting gun possession . . ��IRU�SHRSOH�FRQYLFWHG�RI�PLVGHPHDQRUV�´��TXRting David 

B. Kopel & Joseph G. S. Greenlee, 7KH�)HGHUDO�&LUFXLWV¶�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�'octrines, 61 St. 

Louis L.J. 193, 244 (2017) (cleaned up)).  Rahimi reinforced this observation when it rejected 

DWWHPSWV�WR�OLPLW�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�WR�³ODZ-DELGLQJ´�LQGLYLGXDOV� 

8QGHU�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW
V�UHDGLQJ��&RQJUHVV�FRXOG�UHPRYH�³XQRUGLQDU\´�RU�
³LUUHVSRQVLEOH´�RU�³QRQ-law-DELGLQJ´�SHRSOH²however expediently defined²
from the scope of the Second Amendment.  Could speeders be stripped of their 
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right to keep and bear arms?  Political nonconformists?  People who do not 
recycle or drive an electric vehicle?  One easily gets the point: Neither Heller nor 
Bruen countenances such a malleable scope of the Second Amendment's 
protections. 

Id. at 453. 

 It follows that any historical tradition RI�GLVDUPLQJ�³XQODZIXO´�LQGLYLGXDOV�GRHV�QRW�

support disarming Connelly for her alleged marijuana use.  UQGHU�IHGHUDO�ODZ��&RQQHOO\¶V�

alleged simple marijuana possession would subject her to a misdemeanor charge at most.  See 21 

U.S.C. § 844.9  And even if Connelly were convicted of simple marijuana possession, that 

conviction would be expunged by the blanket presidential pardon of all such marijuana 

SRVVHVVLRQV�WKDW��OLNH�&RQQHOO\¶V��WRRN�SODFH�EHIRUH�2FWREHU���������10 

 Connelly could face more serious charges for her alleged possession of psilocybin.11  

Simple possession of psilocybin would likely still be charged as a misdemeanor under federal 

law.  See 21 U.S.C. § 844.  But possession of psilocybin can support a felony charge under Texas 

law.  Tex. Health & Safety Code §§ 481.103(a)(5)(B), 481.116(b)±(e).  And if Connelly were 

 
9 Section 844 provides for felony simple possession charges if the individual has a prior drug-related 
conviction.  See 21 U.S.C. § 844(a).  And possession of large amounts of marijuana can give rise to a 
felony charge under Texas law.  Tex. Health & Safety Code § 481.121(b)(3)±(6).  But neither case is 
presented here.  The Government has not alleged that Connelly has any convictions on her record, let 
alone a prior drug conviction.  And Connelly possessed thirty grams²or just over one ounce²of 
marijuana or marijuana-related products at most.  See Compl. ¶ 12.  This quantity would not support a 
felony charge under Texas law.  See Tex. Health & Safety Code § 481.121(b)(1). 
 
10 Joseph R. Biden, Jr., A Proclamation on Granting Pardon for the Offense of Simple Marijuana 
Possession, The White House (Oct. 6, 2022), available at https://www.whitehouse.gov/briefing-
room/presidential-actions/2022/10/06/granting-pardon-for-the-offense-of-simple-possession-of-
marijuana/. 
 
11 It remains unclear from the briefing whether the Government alleges that Connelly is an unlawful user 
RI�SVLORF\ELQ���6RPH�WHVWLPRQ\�WHQGV�WR�VXJJHVW�WKDW�WKH�SVLORF\ELQ�EHORQJHG�WR�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG��QRW�
her.  See 5HVS�����³>&RQQHOO\¶V�QHLJKERU@�IXUWKHU�DGPLWWHG�WKDW�KH�EHOLHYHG�>&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG@�KDG�
LQJHVWHG�µPXVKURRPV¶�RQ�WKH�QLJKW�RI�'HFHPEHU���WK�´����6WLOO��RIILFHUV�IRXQG�WKH�VXVSHFWHG�SVLORF\ELQ�LQ�
a house shared by Connelly and her husband.  See id. at 4, 9±10.  And the Court must construe the facts in 
WKH�OLJKW�PRVW�IDYRUDEOH�WR�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�LQ�RUGHU�WR�UHVROYH�&RQQHOO\¶V�0RWLRQ�WR�'LVPLVV�DW�WKLV�VWDJH���
Therefore, the Court assumes that Connelly possessed the suspected psilocybin in her house. 
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convicted in Texas state court of possessing the 37.74 grams of psilocybin found in her home, 

she would face at least two years in prison.  See Compl. ¶ 12; Tex. Health & Safety Code 

§ 481.116(d); Tex. Penal Code § 12.33.  A person with such a conviction could be prohibited 

from possessing a gun indefinitely under other provisions of federal law.  See 18 U.S.C. 

§§ 921(a)(20)(B), 922(g)(1). 

 But this only illustrates the overriding difficulty with WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�DUJXPHQW�WKDW�

§ 922(g)(3) merely disarms unlawful individuals: Connelly has not been convicted of²or even 

charged with²a drug crime.  The longstanding prohibition on possession of firearms by felons 

requires the Government to charge and convict an individual before disarming her.  See 18 

U.S.C. § 922(g)(1).  Rahimi stressed the importance of this pre-GHSULYDWLRQ�SURFHVV��³[C]riminal 

proceedings KDYH�DIIRUGHG�WKH�DFFXVHG�VXEVWDQWLDO�SURWHFWLRQV�WKURXJKRXW�RXU�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRU\���

In crafting the Bill of Rights, the Founders were plainly attuned to the preservation of these 

SURWHFWLRQV�´��61 F.4th at 455 n.7.12  But § 922(g)(3) does not provide for any pre-deprivation 

process, criminal or otherwise.  The Government does not need to conduct a hearing or make any 

offer of proof EHIRUH�LW�GHHPV�VRPHRQH�DQ�³XQODZIXO�XVHU´�RI�FRQWUROOHG�VXEVWDQFHV�DQG�GLVDUPV�

her under § 922(g)(3).  This lack of process makes § 922(g)(3) DQ�³RXWOLHU�LQ�RXU�OHJDO�WUDGLWLRQ�´��

Harrison, 2023 WL 1771138, at *9.13 

 
12 At least two district courts that have applied Rahimi within the Fifth Circuit have also noted the 
importance of these criminal safeguards.  See United States v. Mason, No. 3:23-cr-36-P, 2023 WL 
2589395, at *2 (N.D. Tex. Mar. 21, 2023) (distinguishing Rahimi¶V holding from a challenge to 
§ 922(g)(1) because the law considered in Rahimi ³prohibits firearm possession by a class of persons . . . 
not yet FRQYLFWHG�RI�D�IHORQ\´��HPSKDVLV�LQ�RULJLQDO����United States v. Porter, Criminal Action No. 22-
277, 2023 WL 2527878, at *3 (W.D. La. Mar. 14, 2023) (upholding § 922(g)(9) in part because it 
³VSHFLILFDOO\�FRQWHPSODWHV�SHRSOH�OLNH�3RUWHU�ZKR�ZHUH�VXEMHFW�WR�FULPLQDO�SURFHHGLQJV�DQG�D�
FRQYLFWLRQ´�� 
13 Section 922(g)(3) is similarly distinguishable from prohibitions on the possession of firearms by the 
mentally ill.  Though the modern version of this prohibition does not provide criminal safeguards, it still 
requires some degree of pre-deprivation process.  See 18 U.S.C. § 922(g)(4) (prohibiting gun possession 
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 Of course, if the Government chooses to prosecute an individual under § 922(g)(3), it will 

have to prove beyond a reasonable doubt that the individual is an unlawful user of controlled 

VXEVWDQFHV���%XW�WKLV�SURFHVV�LV�RQO\�DIIRUGHG�³WR�D�WLQ\�IUDFWLRQ�RI�WKRVe whose rights have been 

stripped²WKRVH�WKDW�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV�KDV�VHOHFWHG�IRU�SURVHFXWLRQ�DQG�SXQLVKPHQW�´��Id.  For 

everyone else²including the millions of individuals who use marijuana in states that have 

legalized the practice²§ 922(g)(3) categorically prevents them from owning a firearm without a 

hearing or any preliminary showing from the Government.  They must choose to either stop their 

marijuana use, forgo possession of a firearm, or continue both practices and face up to fifteen 

years in federal prison.  See 18 U.S.C. §§ 922(g)(3), 924(a)(8). 

 ,Q�VKRUW��WKH�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�GLVDUPLQJ�³XQODZIXO´�LQGLYLGXDOV�DSSHDUV�WR�PDLQO\�

involve disarming those convicted of serious crimes after they have been afforded criminal 

process.  Section 922(g)(3), in contrast, disarms those who engage in criminal conduct that 

would give rise to misdemeanor charges, without affording them the procedural protections 

enshrined in our criminal justice V\VWHP���7KH�ODZ�WKXV�GHYLDWHV�IURP�RXU�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRU\�Rf 

firearm regulation. 

    iii. ³'DQJHURXV´�LQGLYLGXDOV 

 Finally, the Government attempts to analogize § 922(g)(3) to laws restricting the Second 

$PHQGPHQW�ULJKWV�RI�³GDQJHURXV´�JURXSV�  Many of laws cited by the Government on this topic 

resemble the laws that the Fifth Circuit considered and distinguished from § 922(g)(8) in Rahimi.  

Compare Resp. 12±15 & n.3, with Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 456±60.  The Court finds the 

*RYHUQPHQW¶V�H[DPSOHV�GLVWLQJXLVKDEOH�IURP�� 922(g)(3) for similar reasons. 

 
E\�DQ\RQH�³ZKR�KDV�EHHQ�adjudicated as a mental defective or who has been committed to a mental 
LQVWLWXWLRQ´��HPSKDVLV�DGGHG�����7KH�VDPH�FDQQRW�EH�VDLG�IRU�� 922(g)(3). 
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 To start, historical laws disarming dangerous individuals differed slightly in their 

justifications from § 922(g)(3).  As Rahimi acknowledged, many of the colonial and early 

American laws that disarmed individuals targeted those who refused to take an oath of 

allegiance, or ³EUHDNHUV�RI�WKH�SHDFH´�WKDW�³JR�DUPHG�RIIHQVLYHO\�´��See 61 F.4th at 456±57.  

Rahimi held that these laws were ³DLPHG�DW�FXUELQJ�WHUURULVWLF�RU�ULRWRXV�EHKDYLRU��L�H���GLVDUPLQJ�

those who had been adjudicated to be a threat to society generally, rather than to identified 

LQGLYLGXDOV�´��Id. at 459.  They could not justify § 922(g)(8), because it disarmed anyone subject 

WR�D�GRPHVWLF�UHVWUDLQLQJ�RUGHU��LQFOXGLQJ�PDQ\�ZKR�SRVH�QR�WKUHDW�RI�³WHUURULVWLF�RU�ULRWRXV�

behavior.´  Id.  Similarly, these laws do not support the constitutionality of § 922(g)(3), which 

disarms not just dangerous drug users, but all drug users.14  

 Moreover, historical firearm laws differed from § 922(g)(3) in how they disarmed 

dangerous individuals.  The cRORQLDO�DQG�HDUO\�$PHULFDQ�³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZV discussed in 

Rahimi��IRU�H[DPSOH��RQO\�³GLVDUPHG�DQ�RIIHQGHU�DIWHU�FULPLQDO�SURFHHGLQJV�DQG�FRQYLFWLRQ�´��Id. 

at 458.  7KH�³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZV�FLWHG�LQ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�EULHILQJ�contain similar conditions.  

See Resp. 13 n.2 (first citing $FWV�DQG�/DZV�RI�+LV�0DMHVW\¶V�3URYLQFH�RI�1HZ�+DPSVKLUH�LQ�1HZ�

England 17 (1771) (reprinting a 1701 statute that alORZHG�D�MXVWLFH�RI�WKH�SHDFH�WR�³FDXVH�>DQ�

RIIHQGHU¶V@�DUPV�RU�ZHDSRQV�WR�EH�WDNHQ�DZD\´�XSRQ�³OHJDO�SURRI´�WKDW�WKH�RIIHQGHU�ZDV�D�

³GLVWXUEHU�RU�EUHDNHU�RI�WKH�SHDFH��RU�DQ\�RWKHU�WKDW�>ZHQW@�DUPHG�RIIHQVLYHO\´�; and then citing 

 
14 Alternatively, some of these historical laws may have simply restricted the gun rights of those outside 
the political community at the time.  See id. at 456±57 (observing that colonial gun restrictions imposed 
RQ�³WKRVH�XQZLOOLQJ�WR�WDNH�DQ�RDWK�RI�DOOHJLDQFH��VODYHV��DQG�1DWLYH�$PHULFDQV´�PD\�KDYH�UHIOHFWHG�
³WKHLU�SHUFHLYHG�ODFN�RI�OR\DOW\�RU�VRFLHWDO�VWDWXV´����7KLV�UHDGLQJ�FDQ�VLPLODUO\�GLVWLQJXLVK�ORQJVWDQGLQJ�
firearm restrictions on felons, minors, and the mentally ill from § 922(g)(3), since such groups were 
historically excluded from the right to vote²and, perhaps by extension, other civic rights.  See Thomas 
M. Cooley, A Treatise on the Constitutional Limitations Which Rest Upon the Legislative Power of the 
States of the American Union 29 (1868) (noWLQJ�WKDW�³the infant, . . . WKH�LGLRW��WKH�OXQDWLF��DQG�WKH�IHORQ´�
ZHUH�H[FOXGHG�IURP�³WKH�HOHFWLYH�IUDQFKLVH´�� 
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Collection of All Such Acts of the General Assembly of Virginia 33 (1794) (reprinting a 1786 

VWDWXWH�WKDW�SURKLELWHG�³ULG>LQJ@�DUPHG�� . . in terror of the Country, upon pain of being arrested 

and committed to prison by any Justice on his own view . . . and in like manner forfeit his 

DUPRXU�>VLF@�WR�WKH�&RPPRQZHDOWK´�).15  7KHVH�³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZV�WKXV�FRQWDLQHG�WKH�QHFHVVDU\�

criminal safeguards that Rahimi emphasized²and that § 922(g)(3) lacks.  Cf. Porter, 2023 WL 

2527878, at *3 (ILQGLQJ�WKDW�WKH�³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZV�GLVFXVVHG�LQ Rahimi could be properly 

analogized to § 922(g)(9), which requires a conviction). 

 Finally, even if history broadly supports disarming dangerous individuals, there is little 

evidence that Connelly herself is dangerous.  The Government has not alleged that she 

committed any violent or threatening acts.  Instead, its core allegation is that she possessed and 

used marijuana.  But over twenty states have legalized the recreational use of marijuana,16 and 

millions of U.S. citizens regularly use the substance.17  It strains credulity to believe that taking 

part in such a widespread practice can render an individual so dangerous or untrustworthy that 

they must be stripped of their Second Amendment rights.  As one district court observed when 

holding § 922(g)(3) unconstitutional as applied to marijuana users: 

 
15 7KH�*RYHUQPHQW�DOVR�FLWHV�WZR�HDUO\�$PHULFDQ�³JRLQJ�DUPHG´�ODZV�WKDW�GLG�QRW�VSHFLILFDOO\�SURYLGH�IRU�
disarmament as a punishment but required the offender to post sureties.  See id. (first citing 2 Laws of the 
Commonwealth of Massachusetts, from November 28, 1780 to February 28, 1807, at 653 (1807) (1795 
statute); and then citing A Compilation of the Statutes of Tennessee of a General and Permanent Nature, 
from the Commencement of the Government to the Present Time 99±100 (1836) (1801 statute)).  Even 
assuming that a failure to post sureties could result in disarmament, these laws resemble modern firearm 
restrictions even less than the two laws discussed above, and therefore cannot historically justify 
§ 922(g)(3).  See Rahimi�����)��WK�DW������³:KHUH�WKH�VXUHW\�ODZV�LPSRVHG�D�FRQGLWLRQDO��SDUWLDO�
restriction on the Second Amendment right, § 922(g)[] works an absolute deprivation of the ULJKW�´�� 
16 Claire Hansen et al., Where Is Marijuana Legal? A Guide to Marijuana Legalization, U.S. News & 
World Report (Mar. 16, 2023), https://www.usnews.com/news/best-states/articles/where-is-marijuana-
legal-a-guide-to-marijuana-legalization. 
 
17 See Justin McCarthy, What Percentage of Americans Smoke Marijuana?, Gallup (Aug. 15, 2022), 
https://news.gallup.com/poll/284135/percentage-americans-smoke-marijuana.aspx (noting that sixteen 
percent of Americans report smoking marijuana). 

Case 3:22-cr-00229-KC   Document 101   Filed 04/06/23   Page 24 of 32
USCA11 Case: 22-13893     Document: 43-2     Date Filed: 04/07/2023     Page: 24 of 32 



25 

[T]he mere use of marijuana does not indicate that someone is in fact dangerous, 
OHW�DORQH�DQDORJRXV�WR�D�³GDQJHURXV�OXQDWLF�´  There are likely nearly 400,000 
Oklahomans who use marijuana under state-law authorization.  Lumping all those 
SHUVRQV�LQWR�D�FDWHJRU\�ZLWK�³GDQJHURXV�OXQDWLFV�´�DV�WKH�8QLWHG�6WDWHV¶�WKHRU\�
requires, is a bridge too far. 

Harrison, 2023 WL 1771138, at *18. 

 Thus, the Government has failed to carry its burden to demonstrate that § 922(g)(3) is 

³consistent with the Nation¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�UHJXODWLRQ�´��Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 

2130.  Section 922(g)(3) breaks with historical intoxication laws by prohibiting not just firearm 

use by those who are actively intoxicated but also firearm possession by those who use 

controlled substances, even somewhat irregularly.  And it breaks with broader historical 

traditions of gun regulation by disarming individuals without any sort of pre-deprivation process.  

Count One of the Indictment is therefore dismissed. 

 F. Constitutionality of § 922(d)(3) 

 Connelly also argues that § 922(d)(3)²the law giving rise to Count Two of her 

indictment²is unconstitutional under Bruen.  Mot. Dismiss 10.  TKLV�VHFWLRQ�PDNHV�LW�³XQODZIXO�

for any person to sell or otherwise dispose of any firearm or ammunition to any person knowing 

or having reasonable cause to believe that such person . . . is an unlawful user of or addicted to 

DQ\�FRQWUROOHG�VXEVWDQFH�´���� U.S.C. § 922(d)(3).   

  1. Conduct 

 At first blush, § 922(d)(3) may not appear to burden conduct protected by the Second 

$PHQGPHQW���7KH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�SURWHFWV�WKH�ULJKW�WR�³NHHS�DQG�EHDU�DUPV�´�L�H���³WKH�

individual right to possess and carry weapons iQ�FDVH�RI�FRQIURQWDWLRQ�´��Heller, 554 U.S. at 592.  

7KH�$PHQGPHQW�PDNHV�QR�PHQWLRQ�RI�D�ULJKW�WR�³VHOO�RU�RWKHUZLVH�GLVSRVH�RI´�ILUHDUPV���Indeed, 

Heller GHVFULEHG�³FRQGLWLRQV�DQG�TXDOLILFDWLRQV�RQ�WKH�FRPPHUFLDO�VDOH�RI�DUPV´�DV�
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³SUHVXPSWLYHO\�ODZIXO�UHJXODWRU\�PHDVXUHV�´��Id. at 627 & n.26; see also Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 

������.DYDQDXJK��-���FRQFXUULQJ���UHLWHUDWLQJ�WKH�³SUHVXPSWLYHO\�ODZIXO´�VWDWXV�RI�FRPPHUFLDO�

firearm regulations).  In that vein, district courts have upheld federal laws regulating the 

commercial sale of firearms since Bruen became law.  See, e.g., United States v. Flores, --- F. 

Supp. 3d ----, 2023 WL 361868, at *2±5 (S.D. Tex. Jan. 23, 2023) (upholding § 922(a)(1)(A)²

which requires firearms dealers to be licensed²against a Second Amendment challenge). 

 %XW�VRPH�GLVWULFW�FRXUWV�KDYH�DOVR�DFNQRZOHGJHG�WKDW�WKH�ULJKW�WR�³NHHS�DQG�EHDU�DUPV´�

necessarily entails other concomitant rights.  Most notably, three district courts have concluded 

that the Second AmendmHQW�FUHDWHV�DQ�LPSOLHG�ULJKW�WR�³UHFHLYH´�ILUHDUPV when analyzing 

Second Amendment challenges under Bruen.  See United States v. Simien, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 

2023 WL 1980487, at *6 (W.D. Tex. Feb. 10, 2023); United States v. Hicks, --- F. Supp. 3d ----, 

2023 WL 164170, at *2±3 (W.D. Tex. Jan. 9, 2023); Quiroz, 2022 WL 4352482, at *3±4.  These 

FRXUWV�UHDVRQHG�WKDW�³[r]eceipt is the condition precedent to possession²the latter is impossible 

ZLWKRXW�WKH�IRUPHU�´��Hicks, 2023 WL 164170, at *2; Quiroz, 2022 WL 4352482, at *3; accord 

Simien, 2023 WL 1980487, at *6.  One of these courts extended this logic to restrictions on the 

sale of firearms, noting that if the Second Amendment right were strictly limited to possession, 

³&RQJUHVV�FRXOG�WKURWWOH�JXQ�RZQHUVKLS�Zithout implicating Second Amendment scrutiny by just 

EDQQLQJ�WKH�EX\LQJ�DQG�VHOOLQJ�RI�ILUHDUPV�´��Hicks, 2023 WL 164170, at *2. 

 There is no Fifth Circuit authority on whether § 922(d)(3) falls within the scope of the 

Second Amendment, and pre-Bruen authority from other circuits is split.  In an unpublished 

opinion, the Fourth Circuit found that § 922(d)(3) did not burden Second Amendment conduct, 

QRWLQJ�WKDW�³DOWKRXJK�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�SURWHFWV�DQ�LQGLYLGXDO¶V�ULJKW�WR�EHDU�DUPV��LW�GRHV�

not necessaril\�JLYH�ULVH�WR�D�FRUUHVSRQGLQJ�ULJKW�WR�VHOO�D�ILUHDUP�´��United States v. Chafin, 423 
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)��$SS¶[������������WK�&LU���������FLWLQJ�United States v. 12 200-Foot Reels of Super 8mm. 

Film, 413 U.S. 123, 128 (1973)).  For its part, the Ninth Circuit has found that § 922(d)(3) did 

EXUGHQ�FRQGXFW�SURWHFWHG�E\�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW��³[B]y preventing [the plaintiff] from 

purchasing a firearm, 18 U.S.C. § 922(d)(3) . . . directly burden[s] her core Second Amendment 

right to possess a fireaUP�´��Wilson v. Lynch, 835 F.3d 1083, 1092 (9th Cir. 2016). 

 However, another Ninth Circuit decision, Teixeira v. County of Alameda, 873 F.3d 670 

(9th Cir. 2017) (en banc), provides a compelling framework for analyzing this split in authority.  

There, the court KHOG�WKDW�³WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�GRHV�QRW�FRQIHU�D�IUHHVWDQGLQJ�ULJKW�� . . upon 

D�SURSULHWRU�RI�D�FRPPHUFLDO�HVWDEOLVKPHQW�WR�VHOO�ILUHDUPV�´�FLWLQJ�HYLGHQFH�RI�KLVWRULFDO�

restrictions on firearm sales and distribution.  Id. at 682, 684±87.  But Teixeira also held that the 

Second Amendment protected the ancillary right to acquire or purchase a firearm, observing that 

³the core Second Amendment right to keep and bear arms for self-GHIHQVH�µZRXOGQ¶W�PHDQ�

PXFK¶�ZLWKRXW�WKH�DELOLW\�WR�DFTXLUH�DUPV�´��Id. at 677 (quoting Ezell v. City of Chi., 651 F.3d 

684, 704 (7th Cir. 2011)).  Therefore, Teixeira REVHUYHG�WKDW�³SHUPLWWLQJ�DQ�RYHUDOO�EDQ�RQ�JXQ�

VDOHV�µZRXOG�EH�XQWHQDEOH�XQGHU�Heller�¶�> ] because a total prohibition would severely limit the 

ability of citizens to acquire ILUHDUPV�´��Id. at 687 (emphasis in original) (citation omitted) 

(quoting United States v. Marzzarella, 614 F.3d. 85, 92 n.8 (3d Cir. 2010), abrogated on other 

grounds by Bruen, 142 S. Ct. at 2127).  

 Teixeira thus indicates that restrictions on the sale of firearms can burden conduct 

protected under the Second Amendment, but only if they significantly burden the ability of 

individuals to acquire firearms.  District courts within the Ninth Circuit have made this 

observation, applying Second Amendment scrutiny to commercial restrictions that prevent or 

restrict citizens from acquiring firearms.  See Renna v. Becerra, 535 F. Supp. 3d 931, 940±41 
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(S.D. Cal. 2021); Altman v. Cnty. of Santa Clara, 464 F. Supp. 3d 1106, 1122±23, 1125 (N.D. 

Cal. 2020).18 

 Applying this principle to the case at hand, the Court finds that § 922(d)(3) burdens 

conduct protected by the Second Amendment.  The language of § 922(d) tracks the language of 

§ 922(g) closely, prohibiting the transfer of firearms to each group that cannot lawfully possess 

guns under § 922(g).  Compare 18 U.S.C. § 922(d)(1)±(9), with id. § 922(g)(1)±(9).  And 

§ 922(d) applies to nearly all sales and transfers, allowing for almost no exceptions.  See id. 

§ 922(d).  It follows that excluding § 922(d)(3) from Second Amendment scrutiny would create 

an end-UXQ�DURXQG�WKH�&RXUW¶V�KROGLQJ�RQ�WKH�FRQVWLWXWLRQDOLW\�RI�� 922(g)(3).  The Government 

could simply shift liability from those possessing guns to those providing guns, and the right of 

individuals to acquire firearms would be just as burdened as before.  Cf. Resp. 19 (describing 

§ ����G�����DV�³D�OHVV�GLUHFW�ZD\�WR�UHVWULFW�JXQ�DFFHVV�WR�GUXJ�XVHUV´����7KHrefore, the conduct 

prohibited by § 922(d)(3) falls within the scope of the Second Amendment. 

  2. Historical justification 

 The Government does not cite any additional historical laws that justify § 922(d)(3) 

specifically; it appears to argue that its evidence justifies § 922(g)(3) and (d)(3) for the same 

reasons.  See generally Resp. 11±20.  TKH�&RXUW�KDV�DOUHDG\�GLVFXVVHG�KRZ�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�

historical evidence does not justify § 922(g)(3).  Since § 922(d)(3) would impose nearly the same 

 
18 The Court is unaware of any Fifth Circuit case that has squarely addressed whether²or when²
UHJXODWLRQV�RQ�WKH�VDOH�RU�WUDQVIHU�RI�ILUHDUPV�IDOO�XQGHU�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�SURWHFWLRQ���%XW�
Teixeira¶V�DSSURDFK�WR�WKH�SUREOHP�DSSHDUV�FRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�ODQJXDJH�WKDW�WKH�)LIWK�&LUFXit has used when 
analyzing commercial firearm regulations in pre-Bruen cases.  See Mance v. Sessions, 896 F.3d 699, 711 
��WK�&LU���������XSKROGLQJ�DQ�³LQ-VWDWH�VDOHV�UHTXLUHPHQW´�DJDLQVW�D�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�FKDOOHQJH�
EHFDXVH�WKH�SODLQWLIIV�ZHUH�³QRW�SURKLELted by the federal laws from purchasing and possessing 
KDQGJXQV´���1DW¶O�5LIOH�$VV¶Q of Am., Inc. v. ATF, 700 F.3d 185, 206±07 (5th Cir. 2012) (evaluating the 
FRQVWLWXWLRQDOLW\�RI�D�ODZ�UHVWULFWLQJ�VDOHV�RI�ILUHDUPV�WR�PLQRUV�DJDLQVW�WKH�DELOLW\�RI�³��-to-20-year-olds 
[to] possess[] and us[e] handguns in defense of hearth and home´ (cleaned up)). 
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restrictions on firearm use as § 922(g)(3), it follows that the same historical evidence cannot 

justify either law. 

 The Court briefly discusses two points that GLVWLQJXLVK�&RQQHOO\¶V�� 922(d)(3) challenge 

from her § 922(g)(3) challenge.  First, § ����G�����GRHV�QRW�GLUHFWO\�EXUGHQ�&RQQHOO\¶V�LQGLYLGXDO�

Second Amendment right.  As explained above, § 922(d)(3) merits Second Amendment scrutiny 

because it burdens the right of individuals to acquire firearms.  But as applied in this case, 

§ ����G�����SURKLELWHG�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�IURP�DFTXLULQJ�D�ILUHDUP.  The law thus placed a 

burden on the Second $PHQGPHQW�ULJKWV�RI�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG��HYHQ�WKRXJK�LW�UHVXOWHG�LQ�

Connelly herself being prosecuted.19  The Government has not argued that Connelly lacks 

standing to DVVHUW�KHU�KXVEDQG¶V�FRQVWLWXWLRQDO�ULJKWV�DV�D�GHIHQVH�WR�WKH�������G�����FKDUJH�  See 

generally Resp.  And considering the issue sua sponte, the Court finds that it is proper to 

³consider whether the statute under which the defendant has been charged lacks constitutional 

application to her conduct. . . . even where the constitutional provision that would render [a] 

FRQYLFWLRQ�YRLG�LV�GLUHFWHG�DW�SURWHFWLQJ�D�SDUW\�QRW�EHIRUH�WKH�&RXUW�´��Bond v. United States, 

564 U.S. 211, 227 (2011) (Ginsburg, J., concurring); see also Teixeira, 873 F.3d at 678 

�³>9@HQGRUV�DQG�WKRVH�LQ�OLNH�SRVLWLRQV�Kave been uniformly permitted to resist efforts at 

 
19 The Court is concerned that, as charged here, § 922(d)(3) may also infringe upon &RQQHOO\¶V�LQGLYLGXDO�
Second Amendment ULJKWV���&RQQHOO\�DUJXHV�WKDW�³>W@KH�*RYHUQPHQW¶V�>� 922(d)(3)] theory in this case 
appears to be that [she] had a duty to prevent her husband frRP�DFFHVVLQJ�WKHLU�ILUHDUPV�LQ�WKH�KRPH�´��
Mot. Dismiss 10±11.  If the Government were to proceed on this theory of § 922(d)(3) culpability, it 
would VXEVWDQWLDOO\�EXUGHQ�&RQQHOO\¶V�ULJKW�WR�SRVVHVV�ILUHDUPV�LQ�KHU�KRPH���,I�D�SHUVRQ�FDQ�³sell or 
otherwise GLVSRVH�RI´�D�ILUHDUP�WR�WKHLU�VSRXVH�E\�VLPSO\�VWRULQJ�WKH�ZHDSRQ�LQ�D�KRPH�WKDW�WKH�WZR�VKDUH��
then that person would be exposed to felony liability under § 922(d)(3) for owning a gun while being 
married to a user of controlled substances.  This expansive theory of liability would force Connelly to 
FKRRVH�EHWZHHQ�KHU�IXQGDPHQWDO�ULJKW�WR�NHHS�DQG�EHDU�DUPV�DQG�KHU�IXQGDPHQWDO�ULJKW�WR�³PDUU\�>DQG@�
HVWDEOLVK�D�KRPH´�ZLWK�KHU�VSRXVH���See Obergefell v. Hodges, 576 U.S. 644, 668 (2015) (quoting 
Zablocki v. Redhail, 434 U.S. 374, 384 (1978)).  But for the purposes of this Motion, the Court assumes 
ZLWKRXW�GHFLGLQJ�WKDW�RQO\�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG¶V�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW�ULJKW²and not her own²is 
implicated by Count Two of the Indictment. 
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restricting their operations by acting as advocates of the rights of third parties who seek access to 

WKHLU�PDUNHW�RU�IXQFWLRQ�´��TXRWLQJ�Craig v. Boren, 429 U.S. 190, 195 (1976) (cleaned up))). 

 Second, the criminal acts allegedly committed E\�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�JR�ZHOO�EH\RQG�

&RQQHOO\¶V�own alleged criminal conduct.  Connelly and her neighbor both told police officers 

WKDW�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�KDG�XVHG�FRFDLQH�GXULQJ�WKH�GD\V�OHDGLQJ�XS�WR�the shooting incident.  

Resp. 3±����&RQQHOO\¶V�QHLJKERU�DOVR�VXJJHVWHG�WKDW�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�XVHG�³PXVKURRPV´�WKH�

night before the shooting.  Id. at 3.  And more to the point��&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�allegedly fired at 

KLV�QHLJKERU¶V�GRRU�ZLWK�D�VKRWJXQ EHFDXVH�RI�³DQ�DUJXPHQW�between [Connelly] and her 

husband [ ] over his drug use with their QHLJKERU�´��Id. DW��������7KXV��&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�

appears to be the type of dangerous individual that historical authorities may have disarmed, 

ZHDNHQLQJ�&RQQHOO\¶s as-applied challenge to § 922(d)(3). 

 But Connelly also raises a facial challenge to § 922(d)(3).  See Mot. Dismiss 3, 10.  And 

Rahimi H[SODLQHG�WKDW�³LI�D�VWDWXWH�LV�LQFRQVLVWHQW�ZLWK�WKH�6HFRQG�$PHQGPHQW¶V�WH[W�DQG�

historical understanding, then it falOV�XQGHU�DQ\�FLUFXPVWDQFHV�´�DQG�D�FRXUW�PXVW�VXVWDLQ�D�IDFLDO�

challenge to the law.  See Rahimi, 61 F.4th at 453 (citations omitted).  The facts of Rahimi 

confirm this reading.  Rahimi himself obviously posed a danger to society at large; he allegedly 

instigated five separate shooting incidents in just over a month.  See id. at 448±49.  If it were 

proper to save § ���¶V�constitutionality as applied to dangerous individuals, the Fifth Circuit 

FRXOG�KDYH�HDVLO\�GRQH�VR�DQG�VXVWDLQHG�5DKLPL¶V�FRQYLFWLRQ���%XW instead, the Rahimi court 

compared the terms of § 922(g)(8) to the text and history of the Second Amendment and found 

the law unconstitutional on its face.  See id. at 454±61. 

 +HUH��&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�PD\�SRVH�D�GDQJHU�WR�WKH�SXEOLF similar to the one posed by 

Rahimi.  But § 922(d)(3), as written, also effectively disarms individuals who do not pose the 
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same kind of threat.  Moreover, § 922(d)(3) does not tie its restrictions on gun use to intoxication 

or public safety in the way that historical gun regulations did.  Nor does it provide the pre-

deprivation process that laws disarming dangerous individuals historically required.  Thus, even 

LI�&RQQHOO\¶V�KXVEDQG�SRVHV�HQRXJK�RI�D�GDQJHU�WR�VRFLHW\�WKDW�WKH�*RYHUQPHQW�FDQ�ODZIXOO\�

disarm him, it cannot use § 922(d)(3) as a vehicle for doing so.  As the Harrison court observed, 

³>7@KH�1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�UHJXODWLRQ�GHPRQVWUDWHV�WKDW�&RQJUHVV�PD\�GLVDUP�

those who have demonstrated a proclivity for violence . . . .  Harrison may well have such a 

SURFOLYLW\��EXW�WKH�PHUH�IDFW�WKDW�KH�XVHV�PDULMXDQD�GRHV�QRW�WHOO�XV�WKDW�´  2023 WL 1771138, at 

*17. 

 In sum, § 922(d)(3) does not withstand Second Amendment scrutiny for much the same 

reasons that § 922(g)(3) does not.  The laZ¶V�EURDG�SURKLELWLRQ�RQ�WKH�VDOH�RU�WUDQVIHU�RI�ILUHDUPV�

to unlawful users of controlled substances burdens the Second Amendment rights of those 

individuals to nearly the same extent as § 922(g)(3).  And, as the Court found when assessing 

§ 922(g)(3), our 1DWLRQ¶V�KLVWRULFDO�WUDGLWLRQ�RI�ILUHDUP�UHJXODWLRQ�GRHV�QRW�VXSSRUW�SODFLQJ�VXFK�

a burden on the Second Amendment right.  Accordingly, Count Two of the Indictment is also 

dismissed. 

IV. CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, &RQQHOO\¶V Motion to Reconsider, ECF No. 86, is 

GRANTED.  The Court ORDERS that the offenses charged in Counts One and Two of the 

Superseding Indictment, ECF No. 44, are DISMISSED. 
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 SO ORDERED. 
 
 SIGNED this 6th day of April, 2023. 

 

 

KATHLEEN  CARDONE 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT JUDGE 
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